S219970

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA ,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DENNIS TERRY MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.



Case No. E057976

SUPREME COURT

JUL 17 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. FMB 1200197 Deputy
San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No.
The Honorable Daniel Detienne, Judge

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can a trial court order victim restitution for injuries suffered as a result of the collision in a hit and run where the defendant is sentenced to prison, not probation?

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Review of this case is necessary to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important question of law. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500, subd. (b)(1).

This Court has previously resolved the issue of whether trial courts can impose restitution for losses resulting from the collision in a hit and run case as a condition of probation. (*People v. Carbajal* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1114 (*Carbajal*).) That decision left unresolved the present question—whether restitution can also be imposed where the court imposes a prison sentence. Two divisions of the Fourth District Court of Appeal have addressed this issue and reached contrary results. In *People v. Rubics* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 452 (*Rubics*), Division One of the Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded that ordering restitution was permissible

because the collision itself was an element of the offense. In the instant case, Division Two of the Fourth District Court of Appeal concluded restitution in hit and run cases is limited to the losses that flow from the defendant's flight, because the "gravamen" of the offense is the "running," not the "hitting." (Slip Op. 6.)

Accordingly, respondent respectfully requests that this Court grant review to secure uniformity of decision in this inter-divisional split and settle this important question of law. Granting review will provide needed guidance to lower courts tasked with ordering restitution in such cases.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 26, 2012, appellant was driving his truck when he collided with a 12-year old boy riding a scooter. (CT 88 [police report].) Appellant initially stopped to check on the victim, but then got back in his car and fled the scene. (Ibid.) The victim received immediate medical attention, but was seriously injured and required an extended hospital stay. (CT 90, 99.)

In July 2012, appellant pleaded guilty to hit and run with injury (Veh. Code, § 20001, subd. (a); count 1), and was sentenced to three years in prison. (RT 6, 26-27.)

The court conducted a restitution hearing on December 31, 2012. (RT 29.) There, defense counsel argued the court could not impose direct victim restitution because appellant did not cause the accident, and the victim's economic losses flowed from the injuries suffered as a result of the collision itself and not appellant's flight from the scene. (RT 31-32.) Relying on, *Rubics*, *supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th 452, the trial court found appellant could be ordered to pay restitution because the accident was an element of the offense, and thus, part of appellant's criminal conduct. (RT 37.) At a separate hearing on April 2, 2013, the parties stipulated to the amount of restitution owed, which was \$425,654.63. (RT 39; CT 80-81.)

Appellant appealed the imposition of restitution, asserting the same argument he presented below: he was not liable for the economic losses suffered by the victim because the losses were attributable to the collision, for which appellant claimed he was not at fault. He argued the "gravamen" of a hit and run offense is the "running," not the "hitting." The Court of Appeal agreed and expressly disagreed with the holding in *Rubics*. (Slip Op. 10-11.) The court reversed the restitution award and remanded the case to the trial court for a hearing to determine if any of the economic losses could be attributed to appellant's flight. (Slip Op. 17.)

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE A
CONFLICT IN THE COURTS OF APPEAL AND TO PROVIDE
GUIDANCE TO LOWER COURTS TASKED WITH ORDERING
RESTITUTION IN HIT AND RUN CASES

In Carbajal, this Court held, "it is within the trial court's discretion in [] a [hit-and-run] case to condition probation on payment of restitution to the owner of the property damaged in the accident from which the defendant unlawfully fled." (Carbajal, supra, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1119, emphasis added.) The crux of the decision in Carbajal was that an award of restitution in a hit and run case is permissible because of the trial court's discretion to impose probation conditions that serve rehabilitative or deterrent purposes. (Id., at pp. 1123-1125.) Thus, this Court evaluated the restitution award under the factors established in People v. Lent (1975) 15 Cal.3d 481, 486. (Carbajal, supra, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1124.)

This case presents the obvious follow-up question: can restitution be imposed where the defendant is not granted probation, but is instead sentenced to prison?

In *Rubics*, the court answered the question in the affirmative. (*Rubics*, supra, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 454.) Here, a different division of the Fourth

District Court of Appeal reached the opposite conclusion. (Slip Op. 7.) Both opinions are published.

Similar to the instant case, the defendant in *Rubics* was involved in a collision. The defendant hit and killed a man on a motorcycle and eventually pleaded guilty to felony hit and run under Vehicle Code section 20001, subdivisions (a) and (b)(2). (*Id.*, at p. 454.) On appeal, *Rubics* claimed he was not responsible for direct victim restitution because he did not cause the vehicle collision. (*Ibid.*) He argued, as appellant did here, that his criminal conduct was fleeing the scene of the accident, not the accident itself. And because the injuries to the victim resulted from the accident, and not the flight, victim restitution could not be ordered. The Court of Appeal rejected this argument.

The *Rubics* court concluded restitution could be imposed because involvement in the accident was an element of the offense of which appellant was convicted. (*Rubics, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 458.) In other words, there could be no "hit and run" without a collision. The *Rubics* court recognized the distinction between ordering restitution as a condition of probation, as in *Carbajal*, and ordering restitution where the defendant receives a prison sentence: "Thus, in our case, restitution must be for economic damages resulting from the crime of which *Rubics* was convicted, not merely those 'reasonably related' to the crime." (*Id.* at p. 460.)

Relying on language from *Carbajal, Rubics* noted this Court's description of the nature of the criminal act of fleeing as follows:

By leaving the scene of the accident, the fleeing driver deprives the nonfleeing driver of his or her right to have responsibility for the accident adjudicated in an orderly way according to the rules of law. This commonly entails a real, economic loss, not just an abstract affront. Among other things, the crime imposes on the nonfleeing driver the additional costs of locating the fleeing driver and, in some cases, the total costs

of the accident. "The cost of a 'hit and run' violation is paid for by every law-abiding driver in the form of increased insurance premiums. The crime with which the defendant is charged is complete upon the 'running' whether or not his conduct caused substantial or minimal (or indeed any) damage or injury; it is the running which offends public policy."

(Rubics, supra, 136 Cal.App.4th at pp. 460-461, quoting Carbajal, supra, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1124.) Based in part on the language from Carbajal, the Rubics court concluded the restitution award was permissible because the collision was an element of the offense, and the policy reasons that permitted the restitution award in Carbajal applied equally to a restitution award where the defendant is sentenced to prison. (Rubics, supra, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 461.)

The Court of Appeal in this case rejected the holding in *Rubics*, and held that restitution in a hit and run case is limited to the economic losses that flowed directly from the defendant's flight, i.e. any exacerbation of the victim's injuries as a result of delayed medical attention, etc. (Slip Op. 2-3, 17.) In so finding, the court relied on a handful of earlier opinions that concluded that "[t]he gravamen of a [hit and run] offense ... is not the initial injury of the victim, but leaving the scene without presenting identification or rendering aid." (Slip Op. 6; citing *People v. Escobar* (1991) 235 Cal.App.3d 1504, 1508 (*Escobar*); *People v. Valdez* (2010) 189 Cal.App.4th 82, 85 (*Valdez*); *People v. Wood* (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 862, 866 (*Wood*); and *Corenbaum v. Lampkin* (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 1308, 1340 (*Corenbaum*).)

With the exception of *Escobar*, these cases addressed different, unrelated statutory interpretation issues. (*Valdez, supra*, 189 Cal.App.4th at p. 90 [whether injuries sustained in a hit and run accident were inflicted "in

the commission of a felony or attempted felony" under Penal Code¹ § 12022.7, subd. (a)]; Wood, supra, 83 Cal.App.4th at pp. 863-864 [whether a conviction for hit and run, during which the victim is seriously injured, automatically qualifies as a serious felony under § 667, subds. (b)-(i)]; Corenbaum, supra, 215 Cal.App.4th at p. 1339 [whether a plaintiff in a civil lawsuit could recover attorney fees under Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.4].)

In *Escobar, supra*, 235 Cal.App.3d at p. 1512, the court held imposition of restitution was prohibited even as a condition of probation. *Escobar* predated *Carbajal*, and thus, has been overruled.

Relying on the language in these cases regarding the "gravamen" of the hit-and-run offense, the Court of Appeal here expressly limited the restitution award to any amount that could be attributed to defendant's flight. Practically speaking this would preclude a victim from recovering any losses that flow from the collision itself in any hit and run case, even if it is abundantly clear from the record that the defendant was at fault for the accident. This conclusion conflicts with section 1202.4, subdivision (f), which requires trial courts to impose restitution for any economic losses suffered "as a result of the defendant's conduct." (§ 1202.4, subd. (f).) The statute says nothing of restricting restitution to only those losses that flow from the "gravamen" of the offense—the test used by the court here.

The facts of *Rubics* underscore the unfairness of the new rule espoused by Division Two in the present case. In *Rubics*, the record indicated that on the morning of the accident, *Rubics* took one hit of marijuana, and then drove to the beach where he drank five beers and smoked another "bowl" of marijuana. He left the beach to drive home. He approached an intersection, paused at a stop sign and turned left. As he was

¹ Future unlabeled statutory references are to the Penal Code.

making the turn, he collided with a motorcycle. An accident reconstructionist determined the victim was travelling over the speed limit, but that *Rubics* caused the accident by failing to yield before he turned. (*Rubics, supra*, 136 Cal.App.4th at p. 454-455, 462.) The victim died at the scene. (*Id.*, at 455.) Presumably, *Rubics* could not be prosecuted for driving under the influence of drugs and alcohol because he fled the scene and thus avoided having to submit to timely chemical tests. If *Rubics* were governed by the opinion issued in the instant case, the victim could not recover any restitution because none of the economic losses his family suffered (i.e. funeral costs, etc.) flowed from *Rubics*' flight. The victim received immediate medical attention, and died at the scene. The substantial evidence that *Rubics* was indeed at fault for the collision and caused the economic losses suffered by the victim's family would not suffice to entitle them to recover any restitution because none of the victim's injuries were exacerbated by the defendant fleeing the scene.

Often, the difficulty in determining fault in a hit and run scenario is because of the flight. As this Court recognized in *Carbajal*, a defendant's flight prevents authorities from collecting contemporaneous witness statements, shifts the focus of the investigation, and allows a defendant an opportunity to craft a fabricated story and to hide or destroy evidence. (*Carbajal, supra*, 10 Cal.4th at p. 1124.) That happened in this case because the investigation focused on identifying appellant and his truck, rather than determining who was at fault for the collision. (CT 88.) Thus, the flight is connected to the determination of fault for the collision and it is equitable to hold the defendant responsible for the restitution that flows from the collision.

In addition, limiting restitution to the amount that can be tied to the flight creates an incentive for defendants to flee where it is clear they are at fault for the collision itself, and the victim is likely to receive immediate or

near-immediate medical attention (i.e. if the defendant is under the influence). Defendants may decide the risk of a conviction for a hit and run is better than the conviction *and* restitution for the driving under the influence or reckless driving offense of which they know they are guilty.

The opinion in this case also creates an incentive that undermines the purpose of a grant of probation for suitable defendants. Because *Carbajal* permits restitution in probation cases, prohibiting restitution in prison cases creates a perverse incentive for defendants to decline probation and choose prison, especially in cases like this one where the prison sentence was relatively short but the restitution award was relatively high.

Finally, Proposition 8 established a constitutional right to restitution for crime victims. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (b).) Permitting restitution in probation cases, while prohibiting it in prison cases, necessarily means that the victim's recovery of restitution is dependent on the trial court's exercise of its sentencing discretion. This conflicts with the clear intent of the citizens in establishing a victim's independent constitutional right to restitution.

In sum, in addressing the very same issue, the Court of Appeal in this case and the court in *Rubics* reached opposite conclusions. For the reasons set forth above, the opinion here is incorrect. With two published cases from the same appellate district addressing the issue and reaching diametrically opposing conclusions, the quest for uniformity and consistency is impossible without guidance from this Court. This Court's review is of the utmost importance to resolve the conflict and give the lower courts guidance on their authority to impose restitution awards in these cases.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review in the present case.