SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

AUG - 6 2014

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	Frank A. McGuire Clerk	
	Deputy	
Plaintiff and Respondent,	Case No. S219970	
vs.	Case 140. 5217770	
DENNIS TERRY MARTINEZ,		
Defendant and Appellant.		

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E057976 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FMB1200197 The Honorable Dan Detienne, Judge

APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Thomas E. Robertson State Bar No. 262659 225 Broadway, Suite 1460 San Diego, California 92101 (619) 544 - 9911

Attorney for Appellant Dennis Martinez Under the Appellate Defenders, Inc. Independent Case System

INTRODUCTION

TO THE HONORABLE TANI CANTIL-SAKAUYE, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE CALIFORNIA SUPREME COURT:

In its Petition for Review, the government asserts that the Court of Appeal's Opinion "would preclude a victim from recovering any losses that flow from the collision itself in any hit and run case, even if it is abundantly clear from the record that the defendant was at fault for the accident."

(Pet. at 6, italics added.) To the contrary, however, the Opinion repeatedly draws a line between (1) accidental collisions and (2) those collisions where the defendant is at fault. And in the latter case, the Opinion strongly supports victim restitution for any losses suffered as a result of the collision.

As a result, the Opinion does not necessarily conflict with the decision in *People v. Rubics* (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 452. Indeed, as shown below, the two cases occupy the opposite ends in the spectrum of culpability. In *Rubics*, restitution was affirmed where the defendant admitted to smoking marijuana and drinking five beers before driving, and the investigator determined that defendant was at fault for the collision. In the present case, by contrast, even the victim's mother acknowledged that the collision was an accident.

Because the two cases do not present a true split of authority, this Court should deny the Petition for Review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

Appellant Dennis Martinez adopts the Facts and Procedural History as presented in the Court of Appeal's Opinion, filed June 6, 2014. (*People v. Martinez* (2014) 226 Cal.App.4th 1156, 1159-1160.) Notably, there was no evidence that Martinez was responsible for the collision. As observed by the Court of Appeal: "Both defendant and the victim's mother described the collision as an accident." (*Id.* at p. 1163.)

ARGUMENT

I.

BECAUSE THE PRESENT CASE AND THE RUBICS DECISION DO NOT PRESENT A SPLIT OF AUTHORITY, THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

There is a striking contrast between the facts of the present case and those in *Rubics*. Here, Martinez was not at fault in the collision. There is no evidence that he violated any traffic laws or drove recklessly. Indeed, after taking the statements of two individuals who witnessed the accident – a bystander and the victim's mother – the government did not file any charges related to the nature of Martinez's driving. (*Martinez, supra,* 226 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1166-1167.) Even the victim's "mother indicated it was the victim who collided with defendant." (*Id.* at p. 1167.)

A very different story took place in Rubics. There, the defendant

smoked a "bowl" of marijuana and drank five beers before driving.

(Rubics, supra, 136 Cal.App.4th at pp. 454-455.) Further, as established by an investigator's reconstruction of the incident, the defendant rolled through a stop sign and "caused the accident by failing to yield before he turned." (Id. at pp. 455, 462.) And based on this evidence that the defendant was at fault for the collision, the Rubics court held that the order of restitution was not an abuse of discretion. (Id. at p. 462.)

Importantly, in the present case, the Court of Appeal explicitly distinguished the *Rubics* decision on those facts. (*Martinez, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1162.) In particular, the court observed that "the defendant in *Rubics* effectively admitted culpability for the collision, and his responsibility had also been independently determined." (*Ibid.*) Based on the clear contrast in culpability between the two defendants, therefore, the *Rubics* decision was deemed inapposite. (*Ibid.*)

The Petition overlooks how the Court of Appeal distinguished *Rubics* on the facts. And by doing so, the Petition frames the present case in absolutist terms and makes an erroneous claim regarding the scope of the Opinion's holding:

Practically speaking this [holding] would preclude a victim from recovering any losses that flow from the collision itself in any hit and run case, even if it is abundantly clear from the record that the defendant was at fault for the accident.

(Pet. at 6, italics added.) But this bright-line rule ignores the plain language

of the Opinion's central holding:

[W]e hold that a court cannot order a defendant pay victim restitution when sentenced to prison for the effects of a collision, not exacerbated by his leaving, when the defendant is solely convicted of fleeing the scene and no factual predicate for the defendant's responsibility for the accident can be found in the record.

(*Martinez, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1161, italics added.) Thus, contrary to Petition's assertion, if the defendant is responsible for the accident, then the holding strongly suggests that the victim *is* entitled to recover restitution.

Similarly, the Petition misunderstands how the present holding would apply to the facts in *Rubics*:

If *Rubics* were governed by the opinion issued in the instant case, the victim could not recover any restitution because none of the economic losses his family suffered (i.e. funeral costs, etc.) flowed from *Rubics*' flight.

(Pet. at 7.) Again, this cannot be correct. The Court of Appeal conducted an exhaustive review of the record to confirm that Martinez "was not convicted of any offense involving responsibility for the collision" and "no evidence in the record appears to indicate any culpability on his part in the collision." (*Martinez, supra,* 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1166.) By contrast, the court's review of the *Rubics* decision revealed that "there was a factual predicate for determining the defendant's fault in the accident at issue in *Rubics*." (*Id.* at p. 1162.) As applied to the facts in *Rubics*, therefore, the present holding would actually *support* victim restitution.

In sum, because Martinez was not at fault for the accidental collision

– and because the defendant in *Rubics* was clearly at fault for striking and
killing a motorcyclist – the two cases do not present a clear conflict in need
of resolution. The Petition for Review should be denied.

CONCLUSION

Because the present case and the *Rubics* decision do not present a split of authority, the Petition for Review should be denied.